
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 07895 213740 
 

 

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 16 November 2021 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 24 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
 

FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ 
 
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a 
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a 
headset/headphones. 

 

Members of the Committee: 

David Bretherton (Chair) 

Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair) 
Ken Arlett 
Tim Bearder 
Victoria Haval 

Elizabeth Gillespie 
Lorraine Hillier 
Axel Macdonald 
Jo Robb 

Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 

 
Substitutes 

vacancy 
Celia Wilson 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
Stefan Gawrysiak 

Alexandrine Kantor 
Mocky Khan 
Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 

Sue Roberts 
David Turner 
Kellie Hinton 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Chair's announcements   
 

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 
 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 
 
3  Minutes of the previous meetings (Pages 5 - 12) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on Wednesday 11 August 2021 and Wednesday 1 September 2021.   
 
4  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.    
 
5  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn. 

 
6  Proposals for site visits   

 
7  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   
 

Development control applications 

 
 

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information 

 
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number.  
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 



  3 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page 

 
     
8  Land to the 

West of 
Windmill Road, 
Thame   

Development of an existing 
greenfield site for 31 new affordable 
homes to include 4 x 1B 
maisonettes, 18 x 2B4P houses and 
9 x 3B5P houses. The homes are to 
remain affordable in perpetuity under 
the community land trust mechanism 
and are to provide homes to people 
with a local connection to Thame. 
The masterplan includes on-site 
parking and shared green spaces for 
residents and the wider community. 
The proposed design also includes 
proposed upgrades to local 
infrastructure where the Phoenix 
Trail meets Windmill Road. 

P20/S4693/FUL 13 - 34 

 

     
9  Manana, 

Latchford 
Lane, Great 
Haseley   

Demolition of existing bungalow and 
garage and erection of new chalet 
style house (As amended by revised 
plans amended plans, arboricultural 
impact assessment, preliminary bat 
roost assessment, energy statement, 
and water efficiency calculator 
received 17/05/2021 and bat survey 
received 31/08/2021). 

P20/S3905/FUL 35 - 48 

 

     
10  Waterstone 

House, Burcot   
Works of demolition, extension, 
alteration and conversion of the 
existing storage building to form a 
self-contained dwelling (19-08-2021 
amended neighbour notification 
certificates following notification on 
all frontages of access road and 
structural survey). 

P21/S2551/FUL 49 - 64 

 



  4 

 

 

 

 



 1 

Minutes 

 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
  

Planning Committee 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 11 AUGUST 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Lorraine 
Hillier, Alexandrine Kantor (substituting for Councillor Levy), Axel Macdonald, Sue Roberts 
(substituting for Councillor Gillespie), Jo Robb, Ian Snowdon, and Alan Thompson 
Officers: Michael Flowers and Paula Fox 
 

Remote attendance: 
Officers: Paul Bateman, Phil Moule, Susie Royce, and Cathie Scotting 
 

Apologies: 
 
Tim Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, and George Levy tendered apologies.   
 

174 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and 
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

175 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 9 June 2021 as a 
correct record and agree that the chair sign them as such. 
 

176 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

177 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

178 Proposals for site visits  
 
There were no proposals for site visits. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 2 

179 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting. Statements received from the public were circulated to the 
committee prior to the meeting. 
 

180 P19/S0257/FUL - Land at Didcot Town Football Club, Bowmont 
Water, Didcot  
 
The committee considered application P19/S0257/FUL for the development of 25 
apartments, replacement car parking spaces, and new sports pitches (as amended by 
drawings received 19 February 2020, site plan received 10 June 2020, drawings received 
10 October 2020 and drawings and energy statement received 22nd January 2021), site 
plan received March 2021. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
The officer explained that the application had been presented to the committee as the 
officer’s recommendation conflicted with the view raised by Didcot Town Council. The town 
council’s objections had been raised for the following reasons: 

1.) The application did not keep to the character of the surrounding area. 

2.) An insufficient provision of car parking spaces. 

3.) That additional traffic would cause increased pressure on local roads. 

4.) The traffic and noise impact caused by the development. 

5.) The loss of privacy to Oak Tree Health Centre  

The planning officer also explained that since the application last went to the committee, a 
site visit had been conducted including its surrounding context on the 9 August 2021.  
 
It was confirmed that the proposed development would provide a rate of 40 per cent 
affordable housing through shared ownership housing units. Additionally, the location of 
the site was in a sustainable location which was within a maximum fifteen minute walking 
distance to Didcot railway station and Didcot town centre. The planning officer also 
clarified that several amendments had been made to the proposal during the application 
process, which included the removal of a smaller block of two apartments. The proposal 
had also removed the provision of a variety of pitches for recreational use which would be 
replaced by the provision of affordable housing. Additionally, the design of the external 
appearance of the proposed development had been amended and improved along with 
visitor parking spaces. 
 
In relation to the concerns raised around the proximity of the application to the health 
centre, the planning officer explained that it was considered that the proposal complied 
with the council’s design guide in terms of separation distances and was therefore 
acceptable. In addition, the application provided a new forty space car park and would not 
see a loss in the provision for the Willowbrook Leisure Centre adjacent to the site. While 
there would be a reduction in thirty-two car parking spaces on the site (188 spaces 
reduced to 156), the officers considered that the sustainable location of the area would not 
be a sufficient reason to refuse the application.  
 
The planning officer also suggested an additional condition which would be added should 
planning permission be granted. This condition would secure the provision of the 
replacement car parking area of forty cars prior to the commencement of the construction 

Page 6



 3 

of the properties. The applicant had agreed to the inclusion of this provision. The planning 
officer also reported that the Oxfordshire County Council, the highways authority, had 
removed their objection in regard to highway impact, as they considered that additional 
traffic movements would be minimal. It was also reported that the urban design officer 
considered that the proposed development was acceptable. 
 
 
Councillor Eleanor Hards, a representative of Didcot Town Council, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
Jennie McMillan, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. Questions were 
raised to the speaker on the usage of nearby green space by local residents. Ms McMillan 
confirmed that it was used by a variety of people of various ages and was used for dog-
walking and recreational purposes. An additional question was asked surrounding disabled 
access for the area with public transportation. Ms McMillan clarified that the bus services 
were infrequent and that whilst the train station was within travel distance, that recent 
increases in crime in the neighbouring area had made residents feel cautious about using 
the commuting route late at night. 
 
Roger Neal, on behalf of Didcot Town Football Club, spoke in support of the application. 
The committee asked the speaker a question about the club’s financial viability.  However, 
the chair reminded the committee that the financial position of the applicant was not a 
material planning consideration that the committee could use in its decision making. 
 
Councillors Victoria Haval and Andrea Warren, the local ward members, spoke objecting 
to the application. A question of clarification was raised on whether the local school 
catchment area included the Ladygrove estate and also whether the Willowbrook Centre 
was used by Ladygrove residents. The ward members clarified that the estate had a tight 
catchment area and some people within Ladygrove were within these boundaries. It was 
also confirmed that the Willowbrook was used by the residents of the estate regularly for 
the sports facilities.  
 
A question was raised to the planning officer regarding Thames Water’s identified issue 
surrounding the inability of the existing foul and surface water infrastructure to 
accommodate the development and whether this could restrict the maximum occupation 
by residents. The officer confirmed that Thames Water still needed to complete a survey 
and so this only remained a potential risk. It was also clarified that Thames Water had a 
legal obligation to support any upgrade of infrastructure required for new dwellings. 
 
In response to an issue raised regarding the inappropriate height of the proposal, the 
planning officer reported that the proposed development was 11.2m.in height, but that 
there were existing buildings of similar height in Didcot; the Willowbrook Leisure Centre 
was 12m. tall and a three storey residential development in Bowmont Water was 
compaprable to the 4-storey proposal, owing to its sloping roof design.  
 
An additional question was raised on whether the site was located within an area that was 
at risk of flooding. The committee was assured that the proposed development did not lie 
within a flood plain. 
 
In answer to a further question from the committee, the planning officer also confirmed that 
the application no longer contained a proposal for artificial pitching and now contained 
affordable housing. Additionally, it was confirmed, as part of this answer, that S106 funding 

Page 7



 4 

of £795 per dwelling would be used towards the improvement of the transport services, 
which would include bus services, within the Science Vale area. 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P19/S0257/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions;  

1. Commencement development within three years - Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved plans 

3. Sample materials (prior to commencement) 

4. Landscaping – planting plan (prior to commencement) 

5. Landscape management plan 

6. Tree protection details to be approved (prior to commencement) 

7. Hours of operation – construction/demolition 

8. Control of noise and dust (prior to commencement) 

9. Air Quality – scheme for EV charging points 

10. New car parking available at all times 

11. SAP calculations for all apartments (prior to commencement) 

12. Details of photovoltaic panels and air source heat pumps (prior to commencement) 

13. Energy Statement Verification Report 

14. Detailed foul water drainage scheme (prior to commencement) 

15. Detailed surface water drainage scheme (prior to commencement) 

16. Thames Water – water network upgrade / phasing plan 

17. Details of pitch drainage, floodlighting, dugouts and perimeter fencing 

18. Travel information pack 

19. Construction Traffic Management Plan (prior to commencement) 

20. Parking for flats to be provided prior to occupation and retained 

21. Part M (4) Category 2 

22. Contaminated Land Condition 1 (prior to commencement) 

23. Contaminated Land Condition 2 

24. Prior to the commencement of the development of the flats and the car parking 

serving those flats hereby approved, the proposed general car parking area to 

contain forty car parking spaces (as shown on drawing no. 1128-P01-E) located to 

the south of the football stadium shall be completed and be available for general 

parking on the site.  

 
The meeting closed at 7.33 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 8



 1 

Minutes 

 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
  

Planning Committee 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 1 SEPTEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair) Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Jo Robb, and Alan 
Thompson 
Officers: Michael Flowers and Paula Fox 
 

Remote attendance: 
Officers: Victoria Clarke, Kim Gould, and Bertie Smith. 
  

Apologies: 
 
George Levy and Ian Snowdon tendered apologies.  
 

181 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and 
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

182 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 30 June 2021 as 
a correct record and agree that the chair sign them as such. 
 

183 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

184 Urgent business  
 
There was one matter for urgent business.  

 
The Development Manager explained that item eight, P21/S2624/FUL – 114 Broadway, 
Didcot, would need to be deferred due to a relevant appeal decision that was received on 
the same day as the committee meeting. The appeal related to the conversion of a 
commercial unit to two residential flats, in which the planning inspector had refused the 
appeal scheme due to a failure to meet national space standards.  

Public Document Pack

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 2 

 
As application P21/S2624/FUL had four of its six units being below the national space 
standards, the Development Manager therefore recommended the application be deferred 
in light of this new information. 
 
The committee agreed to defer application P21/S2624/FUL. 
 

185 Proposals for site visits  
 
A proposal was made for a site visit for application P20/S1991/FUL (Land next to Oak 
House Cottage, track Leading to Box Cottage Common Lane, Binfield Heath).  The motion 
was carried. 
 

186 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting. Statements received from the public were circulated to the 
committee prior to the meeting. 
 

187 P21/S2624/FUL - 114 Broadway, Didcot  
 
The application was deferred as agreed during urgent business. 
 

188 P20/S1991/FUL - Land next to Oak House Cottage, track Leading to 
Box Cottage Common Lane, Binfield Heath  
 
The application was deferred as agreed during proposals for site visits. 
 

189 P21/S1647/FUL - 2 Stonehouse Cottages, Highmoor Cross  
 
The committee considered application P21/S1647/FUL for a two storey side extension, 
demolition of existing garage and erection of a new two storey house and associated 
parking (as amended by plans received 17 & 18 May 2021 omitting the hedge and window 
on north elevation, altering the internal layout of existing and proposed dwellings and 
altering site / parking layout to accommodate replacement hedge and tree planting, by 
plans received 24 May 2021 amending vehicle vision splays and arboricultural impact 
assessment received 18 June 2021 and additional energy statement received 20 July 
2021). 

 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer explained that Highmoor was classified as an ‘other village’ which 
meant that infill housing was permitted within policy H1 of the district local plan. The 
planning officer further stated that the proposed dwelling would be traditional in design and 
would be in keeping with the character of surrounding properties and the neighbouring 
area. The proposed development would have sufficient gaps between neighbouring 
buildings and was not considered overbearing. In addition, the development would sit 
comfortably in the street which had a linear form of development within the village. The 
planning officer also reiterated that there would not be an unacceptable loss of light or loss 
of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. 
 

Page 10



 3 

The planning officer also confirmed that the forestry officer had given no objections to the 
proposal, subject to tree protection and landscaping conditions which included the 
securement of replacement planting along the front of the site. There was adequate space 
to accommodate the indicative planting of the proposal. Officers therefore viewed that 
subject to conditions, the application would be sympathetic to the site and surrounding 
area, and it complied with development plan policies. They therefore recommended the 
application for approval subject to conditions. 
 
Richard Stacpoole, a representative of Highmoor Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
Selina Craig, the applicant, and Christopher Tapp, the agent, spoke in support of the 
application.  
 
Councillor Jo Robb, local ward member, spoke to the application. 
 
Councillor Lorraine Hillier, local ward member, spoke in support of the application. 
 
A question was raised on why one property had been allowed two car parking spaces 
whilst the other property had three parking spaces. It was explained to the committee that 
the Oxfordshire County Council standard required two car parking spaces for properties 
that were of similar size to the application. It was clarified to the committee that in 
response to concerns from neighbours around visitor parking, that an additional space had 
been added to the application which would serve both dwellings. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S1647/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions;  
1 : Commencement of the development within 3 years 
2 : Development in accordance with the approved plans  
3 : Materials for proposed extension as specified on plan / supporting documents 
4 : Sample materials required for the new dwelling (walls and roof) 
5 : Energy Statement verification report required prior to occupation 
6 : Vehicular access to be formed, laid out and constructed  
7 : Vision splay protection  
8 : Parking & manoeuvring areas shown on plan to be provided and retained  
9 : Landscaping scheme (including boundary treatment) to be submitted for approval 
10 : Tree protection scheme to be submitted and approved 
11 : Ecology / biodiversity (Two bird boxes and bat box shall be erected and retained)  
12 : Surface water drainage works (details required) 
13 : Foul drainage works (details required) 
14 : Electric charging point to be provided for new dwelling 
 
 
The meeting closed at 6.42 pm 
 
Chairman Date 

 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P20/S4693/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 14.1.2021 
 PARISH THAME 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Pieter-Paul Barker 

David Bretherton 
Kate Gregory 

 APPLICANT Thame Town Council & Thame Community Land 
Trust 

 SITE Land to the West of Windmill Road, Thame 
 PROPOSAL Development of an existing greenfield site for 31 

new affordable homes to include 4 x 1B 
maisonettes, 18 x 2B4P houses and 9 x 3B5P 
houses. The homes are to remain affordable in 
perpetuity under the community land trust 
mechanism and are to provide homes to people with 
a local connection to Thame. The masterplan 
includes on-site parking and shared green spaces 
for residents and the wider community. The 
proposed design also includes proposed upgrades 
to local infrastructure where the Phoenix Trail meets 
Windmill Road. 

 OFFICER Nicola Smith 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Gregory due to concerns about the access to the site across the Phoenix Trail. 
 

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the Site Location Plan attached as Appendix 
A) is located on the southern side of Thame and comprises an open field of 
approximately 1.27 hectares, currently in use as a paddock. 
 

1.3 The site is located south of properties on Arnolds Way and Corbetts Way and is 
accessed via Windmill Road at the north eastern corner of the site. At this location 
Windmill Road currently downgrades into an access track for the allotments to the 
east of the site and to Meadow Brook House at the south eastern side of the site. A 
strip of retained green land separates the application site from the Phoenix Trail, 
which passes the site on the northern side. The access to the site from Windmill Road 
crosses the Phoenix Trail. To the west of the site is Moreton Lane, which serves a 
small number of farms and dwellings, no vehicular access to the site is proposed from 
Moreton Lane, but a pedestrian access is proposed. To the south of the site and 
beyond Moreton Lane to the west is open countryside. 
 

1.4 The application proposes development of this site to provide 31 affordable homes 
including a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bedroomed properties with associated parking and green 
spaces. The design also includes upgrades to local infrastructure where the Phoenix 
Trail meets Windmill Road. The homes are proposed to remain affordable in 
perpetuity under the community land trust mechanism and are to provide homes to 
people with a local connection to Thame. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S4693/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

1.5 The proposed layout plan, landscape masterplan and street scenes and are attached 
as Appendix B, C and D respectively. The application is accompanied by several 
supporting documents, including a Design and Access Statement. Additional technical 
information has been submitted at various times and amendments were made in June 
and September 2021. Through the application process concerns have been raised by 
technical consultees, such as the removal or retention of the walnut trees and the 
biodiversity of the site, together with design and layout issues, including the access to 
the rear of properties. The full set of documents are available on the council’s website 
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning reference P20/S4693/FUL. 
 

1.6 The applicant for this scheme is a Community Land Trust (CLT), is a not for profit 
organisation providing community-led housing. The Design and Access statement 
explains that Thame CLT was founded in 2018 by a group of Thame residents with 
the goal of building genuinely affordable housing to buy or rent which meets the needs 
of local people, homes which make it easier to live well on less. The accompanying 
Planning Statement sets out the mechanism for ownership and securing the homes as 
affordable in perpetuity. 
 

1.7 As a Community Land Trust, the applicant will need to access grant funding to build 
the properties in order to be economically viable. The Design and Access Statement 
explains that the scheme does not need to generate a profit but does need to be 
viable. The number of dwellings has been arrived at as a minimum to allow the 
scheme to be both socially sustainable and economically viable. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below. A full copy of all 

the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the proposals 
can be seen online at: 
 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P20/S4693/FUL 
 

Thame Town 
Council 

Supports the application and makes the following comment  

 “The development should incorporate additional tree 
planting where possible, particularly towards the southern 
boundary of the site which will need to provide a suitable 
transition to the countryside.” 
 

Neighbour 
Representations 

A total of 68 responses were received to the original plans, 5 were 
in support of the proposal to deliver affordable homes, however 63 
raised objections.  
 
Support: 
Those supporting the application identify the benefits of affordable 
housing for young people and families, with some expressing their 
interest in being able to purchase or rent one of the proposed 
properties.  
 
Objections: 
Many of the objectors expressed support for the provision of 
affordable homes within the town but raised concerns over the 
location of the site, particularly the crossing of the Phoenix Trail. 
The concerns can be summarised as follows: 
 
 

Page 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S4693/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S4693/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

Principle of development: 
- The site is located on a greenfield site outside the built-up area 
of Thame and on land that would be deemed to be open 
countryside.  
- The site is not allocated for development in the Development 
Plan and the adopted policies of the Council seek to resist 
development outside the built-up areas of towns and villages this 
scale of development should be considered through the 
Development Plan process 
- Affordable homes should be provided in a way that is integrated 
into other developments as required by both the Thame and 
SODC plans 
- The Thame Neighbourhood Plan can better consider proposals 
of this size in the context of the broader housing needs of the town 
- The town does not have the facilities for any more 
developments- doctors, dentists, schools or shops 
 - If this ‘exception site’ is permitted, there would be few grounds 
for refusal of further ribbon development along the Phoenix Trail.  
Road safety and the Phoenix Way: 
- Access would include crossing the Phoenix Trail. There would be 
dangers associated with this as the pathway/cycleway is used by 
lots of people, including children, walkers, joggers and cyclists.  
- It would undermine the Green Living Plan and prioritise vehicles 
- Windmill Road is already congested with car parking especially 
around the junction with Corbetts Way where people park at the 
weekend, this causes problems, further increased traffic will cause 
greater risk to users. 
- Nelson Street, Rooks Lane and Southern Road are all poorly 
maintained and not fit for the increased traffic  
Other planning matters: 
- Surface water flood risk 
 - Impact on bats 
- Reducing privacy for local residents in Windmill Road, Southern 
Road, Arnold Way, Corbetts Way, Windmill Place and others in 
the vicinity 
 
Consultation on the revised plans has resulted in ten responses, 
eight re-iterating concerns, mostly about the crossing of the 
Phoenix Way and two adding support to the application. 
 

Countryside 
Officer 

No objections subject to conditions requiring:  

 a construction management plan for biodiversity (CEMP),  

 a biodiversity enhancement plan and  

 biodiversity offsetting 
 

Drainage Officer No objections subject to conditions requiring: 

 detailed surface water drainage strategy to be submitted 

 a SUDS compliance report to be submitted 

 a foul drainage scheme to be submitted 
 

Lead Local 
Flood Authority 

No objections subject to conditions requiring: 

 the drainage to be carried out in accordance with the Flood 
Risk Assessment 

 SUDS maintenance details 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 

Forestry Officer No objections subject to conditions requiring: 

 Landscaping scheme to be submitted 

 Tree protection during construction 

 Protection of hedges during construction 
 

Air Quality 
Officer 

No objections  

 providing the mitigation measures outlined in section 3.3 of 
the report (Aether, April 2021) are adhered to 
 

Contaminated 
Land Officer 

No objection.  

 The submitted report satisfactorily addresses the 
requirements for submission of a Phase 1 contaminated 
land preliminary risk assessment and Phase 2 
comprehensive intrusive investigation.  

 No significant contamination has been identified.  

 The application site would appear to be suitable for the 
proposed development. 

 

Housing 
Development 

Support  

 This community-led development will contribute towards 
meeting the needs of individuals and young families in 
Thame for both rent and low-cost home ownership. 

 The property types being proposed are acceptable and in 
accordance with the housing needs survey that was 
carried out recently in Thame, on which basis this 
application has been submitted. 

 

Landscape 
Architect 

No objection.  

 The majority of the comments raised by the Landscape 
Officer in February 2021 have been addressed  

 Subject to conditions requiring hard and soft landscaping 
details to be submitted 

 Management and maintenance details to be submitted 
 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
Highways 

No objection subject to conditions requiring: 

 Cycle parking, 

 A construction management plan 

 The roads and footpaths to be laid out 

 Parking areas retained 
 

County 
Archaeologist 

No objection 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
Education 

No objection  

 Subject to 106 contributions 

Urban Design 
Officer 

No objection  

 Satisfied that the issues and/ or further explanations that 
were requested have now been addressed. 

 

Energy 
Consultant 

No objections  

 Complies with policy DES10 
 

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

Crime 
Prevention & 
Design Officer 

No objection 

 Concerns raised over the rear garden area and security of 
rear boundaries have been removed 
 

South 
Oxfordshire 
District of CPRE 

Support 

 The Committee of CPRE Oxfordshire South Oxfordshire 
District fully supports the provision of affordable housing in 
perpetuity delivered through the community land trust 
mechanism.  

 However, we are disappointed that the development will 
not provide as many homes as the site has capacity for. 
 

Sustrans South No objection 

 Our designers are satisfied with the crossing design as 
presented at present, and with the amendments to the 
Moreton Lane connection and opportunity for further input 
on the details of crossing at the detailed design stage I can 
remove my objection to the scheme. 

 

 However if we find the improvements to visibility prove to 
be insufficient once implemented and we discover drivers 
are failing to give way to pedestrians and cyclists at the 
crossing, I would require the ‘Give Way’ signage and 
markings upgraded to ‘Stop’ signage and marking to give 
additional primacy to the crossing, and would be grateful if 
this could be conditioned. 

 

 
3.0 

 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

3.1 P20/S0447/PEJ - Advice provided (18/03/2020) 
Community-led scheme for 30 new dwellings, access road, landscaping and community 
amenity space. 
 
P04/E0297 - Approved (05/05/2004) 
Construction of a path for walkers and cyclist on former railway land (as amended by 
drawings accompanying letter from Agent dated 23 March 2004). 
 
P00/N0606 - Approved (01/11/2000) 
Conversion of disused railway track to a shared path for walkers, cyclists and horse 
riders from Thame Park Road to Moreton Lane (variation of Condition 2 of planning 
permission P00/N0238 "That the development hereby approved shall not commence 
until such time as planning permission has been granted for the extension of the cycle 
track to Lord Williams's Upper School". 
 
P00/N0238 - Approved (09/08/2000) 
Conversion of disused railway track to a shared use path for walkers, cyclists and horse 
riders. (As amended by drawing nos. 8 and 9 accompanying agent's letter dated 16 
June 2000). 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 This proposal does not exceed 150 dwellings, the site area is under 5 hectares and is 

not within a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the EIA regulations. Consequently, the 
proposal is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. An Environmental 

Page 17

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0447/PEJ
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/E0297
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/N0606
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/N0238


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

Impact Assessment is not required as the majority of issues are considered to be of 
local significance only and can be examined through the normal planning process. 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

STRAT1 – The Overall Strategy 
STRAT2 – Housing and employment requirements 
STRAT5 – Residential Densities 
TH1 – The Strategy for Thame 
H1 – Delivering new homes 
H3 – Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thanes, Thame and Wallingford 
H9 – Affordable Housing 
H10 – Exception Sites and Entry level housing schemes 
H11 – Housing mix 
INF1 – Infrastructure Provision 
TRANS2 – Promoting sustainable transport and accessibility 
TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals 
ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 
ENV3 – Biodiversity 
ENV5 – Green Infrastructure in new developments 
EP1 – Air Quality 
EP3 – Waste Collection and recycling 
DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2 – Enhancing Local Character 
DES3 – Design & Access Statements 
DES5 – Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6 – Residential Amenity 
DES7 – Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8 – Promoting Sustainable Design 
DES10 – Carbon Reduction 
CF5 – Open Space, sport and recreation in new residential development 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Thame Neighbourhood Plan:  

H5 – Integrate windfall sites  
H6 – High quality design  
H7 – Provide new facilities  
H8 – Provide affordable housing 
H9 – Provide a mix of housing types  
H10 – Provide a specific mix strategy  
GA1 – Pedestrian & cycle connections  
GA2 – Pedestrian & cycle strategy  
GA6 – Parking  
ESDQ4 – Public open space on windfall sites  
ESDQ11 – Sustainable urban drainage systems  
ESDQ12 – Drainage strategy  
ESDQ13 – Code for sustainable homes  
ESDQ14 – Green living plan  
ESDQ15 – Design & Access Statement  
ESDQ16 – Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings  
ESDQ17 – Positive contribution to the distinctive character of the town as a whole 
ESDQ18 – Contribute to local character  

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

ESDQ19 – Sufficient detail for proposals to be properly understood  
ESDQ21 – Development must maintain visual connections with the countryside 
ESDQ22 – Minimise visual impact on the countryside  
ESDQ23 – Streets in new developments  
ESDQ24 – Pedestrian & cycle routes  
ESDQ26 – Reflect the three dimensional qualities of traditional buildings  
ESDQ27 – Design in the ‘forgotten’ elements from the start of the design process 
ESDQ28 – Provide good quality private outdoor space  
ESDQ29 – Parking design 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

 Developer Contributions SPD  
 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has had regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 

applications to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant Development Plan policies are outlined 
above.  
 
The relevant planning considerations are the following: 
 

 Current policy 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity 

 Access, Transport and Parking 

 Carbon reduction and compliance with DES10 

 Biodiversity and Trees 

 Drainage 

 Infrastructure 
 

 
6.2 

Current Policy 
Policy STRAT1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 sets out the overall strategy 
for the District. It seeks to focus most major new development at the growth point of 
Didcot as well as the Strategic Allocations. The towns of Henley, Thame and 
Wallingford are also focus points for development and regeneration.  
 

6.3 Policy TH1 sets the strategy for Thame specifying that the Council will support 
development proposals that deliver homes in accordance with policy H3, which requires 
that Neighbourhood Development Plans for the market towns should seek to meet 
demonstrable local needs, for example for specialist or affordable housing.  
 

6.4 The Thame Neighbourhood Plan was made in 2013 and includes, in policy H1, 
allocations for 775 new homes across seven sites. This application site is not included 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

in the made Thame Neighbourhood Plan. Thame Town Council are seeking to meet the 
housing requirement set out in part 1 of SOLP Policy H3 in the review of their 
Neighbourhood Plan (NP). This policy requires Thame to deliver at least 1,518 homes 
within the plan period. The figure includes 1,179 completions and commitments 
therefore the remaining amount left to be delivered through the review of the 
Neighbourhood Plan is 339. 
 

6.5 The strategy for delivering houses set out in Policy H3 of the SOLP focuses on 
allocation in Neighbourhood Plans. As the application site is not allocated in the made 
Thame Neighbourhood Plan, and the revisions to the new NP are in their early stages 
this site cannot be considered under Policy H3. 
 

6.6 Policy H1 of the SOLP identifies that residential development will be permitted at sites 
allocated in the Development Plan (including Neighbourhood Plans). The policy, at part 
3, goes on to state that residential development on sites not allocated in the 
development plans will only be permitted where i) it is for affordable housing on a rural 
exception site or entry level housing scheme. Furthermore, Part 1 of Policy H10 of the 
SOLP goes on to specify the requirements of exception sites: 
 
Policy H10: Exception Sites and Entry Level Housing Schemes: 
 
Small-scale affordable housing schemes will be permitted outside settlements, provided 
that: 
 

i) it can be demonstrated that all the proposed dwellings meet a particular 
local need that cannot be accommodated in any other way; 
 

ii) there are satisfactory arrangements to ensure that the benefits of affordable 
housing remain in perpetuity and that the dwellings remain available for local 
people; 

 
iii) they have no unacceptable impact on amenity, character and appearance, 

environment or highways; and 
 

iv) they do not form an isolated development and have access to local services 
and facilities. 

 
6.7 A Housing Needs Survey (HNS) was undertaken in September 2019 which can be 

found within the Supporting Documentation on the file. The HNS found that the need 
was largely for two bedroomed properties (51.8% of respondents) and 3 bed properties 
(28% of respondents) and the preferred tenure was “cheaper housing” (60.9% of 
respondents). The proposed scheme is closely aligned with the findings of the HNS, 
with the majority (27) of the units either two or three-bedroom and with the mix 
comprising 16 (51.6%) affordable rented units and 15 (48.4%) intermediate housing 
units (discounted market sale). 
 

6.8 This mix of sizes and tenures has been identified as meeting the needs of the local 
area and this is supported by the Council’s Affordable Housing Team as it will 
contribute towards meeting the needs of individuals and young families in Thame for 
both rent and low-cost home ownership. Whilst it is acknowledged that other 
developments in Thame are contributing a policy compliant level of affordable housing 
(40% of each site), it is clear from the HNS that there is still a residual need for 
affordable homes and this site presents an opportunity for the community to determine 
their own response to this need. Officers consider that this proposal meets the 
requirements of policy H10 i) as it responds to the local need in a way that is not being 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

met elsewhere, providing a mix of affordable rented properties and discount market 
properties. 
  

6.9 In accordance with criterion ii) above and also part 2 of policy H10, a S106 legal 
agreement is proposed to ensure that the dwellings will be affordable in perpetuity. In 
accordance with the aims and objectives of a CLT, the affordable units would be 
allocated to people with a strong local connection to Thame in accordance with the 
Council’s Allocations Policy.   
 

6.10 With regard to the requirements of criterion iii) of Policy H10, set out above, these 
matters are discussed in separate sections of this report below.  
 

6.11 Criterion iv) of policy H10 requires that proposals do not form an isolated development 
and have access to local services. From the edge of the application site, it is 500 
metres to the town centre (junction of Nelson Street with Upper High Street) with 
schools, shops and facilities located within walking distance. The site is located 
adjacent to the edge of the built up area of Thame and would not be isolated from the 
remainder of the residential areas of the town. The proposal therefore complies with the 
requirements of criterion iv) and can be considered a sustainable location for 
development. 

  
6.12 Officers consider the principle of an affordable housing scheme on this site is 

acceptable, subject to compliance with the remaining policies in the SOLP and Thame 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

 
6.13 

Design and character 
The site is laid out around a road through the centre of the development from Windmill 
Road and a series of green spaces designed to act as focal points to create a sense of 
place and community within the development. The layout, as shown in the plan below, 
mainly uses terraces of four or five dwellings, together with two pairs of semi-detached 
properties. Terraces are proposed to minimise heat loss from the buildings in order to 
maximise the ability of the site to reduce carbon emissions.  
 

 
 

6.14 The green spaces within the development are designed to respond to the required 
function and immediate context. The ‘natural play space’ at the entrance to the site 
contains a natural play area, retained walnut trees, native copse tree planting and a 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

pond, which also acts as a drainage feature. A footpath links the entrance to the site to 
the residential area, meaning that pedestrians do not have to use the same entrance 
point as vehicles. Further into the site the ‘village green’ provides a more formal green 
space at the centre of the development. This square shaped space is well overlooked 
by dwellings on three sides. No play equipment is provided here, but there is a shelter 
at the centre and footpaths through. At the far western end of the site the ‘nature area’ 
will be focused on biodiversity and is designed with a series of landforms and native 
planting. The green infrastructure in this development complies with the requirements of 
SOLP policy ENV5: Green Infrastructure in new developments.  
 

6.15 Policy CF5 of the SOLP sets out requirements for new developments to provide or 
contribute towards open space and play facilities, referring to standards in the Open 
Spaces Study. These standards are for 1.4 hectares of general open space per 1000 
population and 0.55 hectares of play space per 1000 population. In accordance with the 
standards this development of 31 houses would need to provide 0.102 hectares of 
general open space and 0.018 hectares of children’s play space. The proposed layout 
provides a total of 0.206 hectares general open space and a further 0.019 sqm of 
natural play space is also provided (total 0.225 hectares). This does not include the 
ecology and drainage area which totals 0.08 hectares. This development is therefore 
providing open space which exceeds the standards required by policy CF5. 
 

6.16 The design of the buildings utilises a contemporary style, creating a character 
distinctive to the site rather than looking to replicate the design of the recent 
development of Corbetts Way to the north. The Design and Access statement explains 
how the proposed material palette takes cues from the local context and presents it in a 
more contemporary manner. In particular, the cladding materials seek to replicate the 
salt glazed brick seen throughout the historic centre, complemented with references to 
the history of the old railway previously along the Phoenix Trail, through sleepers and 
weathered timber.  Officers consider this approach is acceptable and appropriate given 
that the site is set on the edge of the town, it presents an opportunity to create a 
character of its own further emphasising the sense of place the designers are hoping to 
achieve. The design of the buildings is innovative and interesting, contemporary and 
practical for living.  
 

6.17 Through the materials palette, and landscaping scheme as well as the layout and 
design of the buildings the proposal complies with the requirements of Policy DES1: 
delivering high quality development as well as Thame Neighbourhood Plan policies 
ESDQ17 and 18, making a positive contribution to the character of the location and 
Thame. 

  
 
6.18 

Residential amenity 
Concerns have been raised by a number of occupiers of properties on Corbetts Way 
and Arnold Way that the proposed development would overlook them or impact on their 
privacy. Numbers 14 to 20 (evens) Arnold Way and numbers 41-45 Corbetts Way, 
together with the rear elevation of the older person’s apartments at Windmill Place have 
their rear elevations facing south towards the site over the Phoenix Way. The distance 
between the rear of these existing properties and the rear elevations of the proposed 
properties ranges from 33 metres to 39 metres. This is in excess of the recommended 
minimum back to back distance of 25 metres set out in the Design Guide. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that the proposal will introduce an element of built form to the rear of 
these properties where there previously was none, the windows on the rear elevations 
and small balconies to plots 1, 3, 6 and 8 will not give rise to an unacceptable level of 
overlooking to the existing properties.  
 

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

6.19 Within the site, the dwellings have been arranged in blocks, with the back to back 
distance between properties in the front block being 33 metres. All of the house types 
meet the Nationally Described Space Standard as a minimum, as well SOLP policy 
requirements. All homes are accessible for mobility impaired visitors and three of the 
homes will be specifically for wheelchair users. Gardens are provided for all properties, 
with the exception of the two upper floor maisonettes (plots 12 and 14), which have 
balconies of a sufficient size for the occupants to have private outdoor amenity space. 
 

6.20 Officers consider that the proposal would have no adverse effect on the amenity of the 
existing or future residents and the site and has been designed to comply with the 
requirements of SOLP policies DES5 (Outdoor amenity space) DES6 (Residential 
amenity) and the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. 
 

 
6.21 

Access, Transport and Parking 
Access to the site is proposed to be via Windmill Road and a new access into the site 
at the north eastern corner. To enable access, vehicles will be required to cross the 
Phoenix Trail. The Phoenix Trail is part of the National Cycle Network owned and 
maintained by Sustrans and is a largely car-free route from Princes Risborough to 
Thame. The path is well used by local people, including routes to local schools, as well 
as longer distance cyclists and walkers. Through Thame the route is flat and well-
surfaced, following the line of the former railway. At present it is crossed by a vehicular 
access track at Windmill Road serving the allotments and Meadow Brook House, this 
forms one of only two vehicular crossings of the Trail, the other being Moreton Lane to 
the west of the application site. As part of the proposals this track will be upgraded to 
provide an access to adoptable standards into the development. 
 

6.22 The safety of the users of the Phoenix Trail is of significant importance and this matter 
is raised in many objections. This trail is part of the National Cycle network and is 
promoted as being traffic-free in this location. It is used locally for leisure and as a route 
to school for many, with both the John Hampden Primary School and Lord William’s 
School in close proximity to the trail. Conflict between vehicles using the access to the 
site and those on foot or cycle using the trail should be minimised. At present priority is 
given to vehicular traffic, however, the Transport Statement accompanying the 
application notes that “on-site observations show that vehicle speeds are very low, 
primarily due to the level differences in the carriageway and restricted inter-visibility, 
and therefore drivers most often give priority to pedestrians and cyclists.” 
 

6.23 Upgrade works to the junction at Windmill Road and the Phoenix Trail are included as 
part of the proposal. The design seeks to promote safe access to and from the site for 
the local community and residents. The proposed design for the crossing arrangement 
can be seen in the diagram below, taken from the Design & Access Statement. A more 
technical drawing is included at Appendix E. Where the carriageway crosses the 
Phoenix Trail, the width of the crossing reduces to 3.2m by way of a build-out and 
raised table section, this reduces the crossing width for pedestrians and cyclists and 
improves intervisibility. It is also proposed to slightly re-align the trail to the south to 
improve visibility. The Highway Authority are satisfied with the proposal and it is 
considered that, together with appropriate signage and road markings, this will provide 
a safe and suitable traffic-calming feature that is not over-engineered and is suitable to 
the location on the edge of the settlement. 

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 

6.24 The design has been subject to a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit, along with Designer’s 
Response, all of which are to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority.  
 

6.25 It should be noted that Sustrans initially objected to the detail of the proposal including 
the use of barriers. However, upon the submission of further plans, clarifying the detail 
of the crossing function and slight amendments to the alignment of the Phoenix Trail 
route they have removed their objection to the scheme stating, “Our designers are 
satisfied with the crossing design as presented at present”. A condition is requested to 
ensure that the design is working as it should and, if not, further signage can be 
introduced. Officers have included condition 26 in the recommendation requiring a 
survey to be carried out once the development is completely occupied and any 
necessary changes to be approved by the Council. 
 

6.26 A representative of the Community Land Trust who lives near to the development has 
conducted a survey of the current usage of the crossing point by all motorised and non-
motorised traffic for one hour on three separate days. This informal survey found that 
there were 21, 11 and 8 motorised vehicle movements at each of the given times, 
accounting for 17%, 9% and 16.6% of movements on those occasions. Whilst this is not 
a formal survey and has not been verified by the Local Highway Authority, it is useful 
context from a local perspective. The letter is available to view on the Council’s website 
at the following link: 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/dynamic_serve.jsp?ID=1549027176&CODE
=3A2791E3D38A2633696669D52218E993  
 

6.27 Whilst not an adopted planning document account has been given to the local Thame 
Green Living Plan 2020, which seeks to (inter alia) encourage and support cycling and 
walking through improving links and routes around the town. This proposal would not 
conflict with the aims of the Thame Green Living Plan in this respect. 
 

6.28 A number of comments to this application raise concerns about traffic congestion which 
is already experienced on roads to the north of this application site. It is noted that, 
although the submitted Transport Statement reports that here have been no recorded 

Page 24

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/dynamic_serve.jsp?ID=1549027176&CODE=3A2791E3D38A2633696669D52218E993
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/dynamic_serve.jsp?ID=1549027176&CODE=3A2791E3D38A2633696669D52218E993


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

collisions along Windmill Road or Nelson Street, many residents report in their 
comments “near misses” on these roads. The trip generation figures set out in the 
Transport Statement are lower than average, which would be 0.5 in the peak (for 
Oxfordshire); whereas figures less than 0.3 have been reported here. However, the 
Highways Officer has concluded that, given the small number of houses proposed 
this leads to a potential discrepancy of about 5 of such movements, even this level of 
trip generation, is likely to be within daily fluctuations for the context and he raises no 
concerns about the capacity of the surrounding roads. 
 

6.29 The required number of parking spaces have been provided for the development, there 
are 52 spaces in total, with one on-plot space allocated to each dwelling and a further 
21 spaces unallocated. This complies with the OCC Parking Standards for New 
Developments and is considered acceptable. Each dwelling will be provided with 
access to an electric car charging point, meeting SOLP Policy TRANS5. 
 

6.30 The site is well located for non-motorised journeys, from the edge of the site it is a 6 
minute walk to the Upper High Street, where a bus stop can be found. Also, schools are 
easily accessible with an 11 minute walk or 3 minute cycle to John Hampden Primary 
School and a 17 minute walk or 5 minute cycle to Lord Williams Upper School, all of 
which can be undertaken on pavements and designated cycle ways. 
 

 
6.31 

Carbon reduction and compliance with DES 10 
The SOLP 2035 Policies DES8 & DES10 seek to ensure that all new development 
minimises the carbon and energy impacts of their design and construction and should 
be designed to improve resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change. The 
supporting documents accompanying this planning application includes an energy 
statement setting out how the 40% reduction of carbon emissions as required by policy 
DES 10 would be met. 
 

6.32 The buildings have been designed to Passivhaus principles and use a fabric first 
approach. Passivhaus buildings provide a high level of comfort for occupants whilst 
using very little energy for heating and cooling. The Energy Statement sets out how the 
design of the site and buildings have been informed by Passivhaus principles, including 
orientation of buildings and ratios of glazing to solid walls. The dwellings have been 
arranged in small terraces to optimise the form factor (the ratio of heat loss area to 
useful floor area). The buildings have been designed with lower glazing ratios to reduce 
north facing loss; and higher ratios to optimise the southern facing solar gains. 
 

6.33 Various options are discussed for how the 40% reduction can be achieved and a table 
is included in the Energy Statement showing how these options can be combined to 
result in a reduction of more than 40%. Submitted SAP calculations indicate that a 
reduction of 40% is achieved for all house types using a fabric first approach. 
 

6.34 Furthermore, the Energy Statement also states that the space heating and domestic 
hot-water will be electric and no gas or other fossil fuel supply will be provided to the 
development. The application submission indicates that the design of the proposal has 
considered how the carbon and energy requirements of the proposal can be minimised, 
as such has achieved compliance with policies DES8 and DES10 of the SOLP. 
 

 
6.35 

Biodiversity and Trees 
Initial comments from the Forestry Officer suggested that the two mature walnut trees 
on the site, located in the north east corner, were unsafe to be located close to 
proposed paths or play areas and should be removed – in favour of replacement tree 
planting. However, as the trees have a high potential to support roosting bats the 
Countryside Officer raised concerns about the removal of the trees without further 

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

surveys to confirm the presence or absence of bats. Due to the time of year being 
inappropriate for bat surveys, the applicants were unable to commission a survey, so 
have redesigned the scheme to retain the trees in a safe way, removing the natural 
play area to a safe distance and moving the path away from the trees. The area around 
the trees has instead been identified as a biodiversity area, planted to discourage 
access by people, but to encourage wildlife. As described in paragraph 6.15 above, this 
area is not included in the open space requirement calculation. 

  
6.36 The Forestry Officer has confirmed that, whilst the trees will require some management 

to ensure their safety, the layout is acceptable. The Countryside Officer agrees that the 
retention of the trees is preferable as there has been no bat survey to date. Conditions 
are recommended by both the Forestry and Countryside Officers to ensure the trees 
are managed appropriately and there is no loss of biodiversity. 
 

6.37 A bat survey has been carried out on a Prunus tree in the centre of the site which was 
also identified for removal, but had shown potential to host bats. No evidence of bat 
activity was found in this tree and the Countryside Officer has confirmed that the 
removal of this tree is acceptable. 
 

 
6.38 

Drainage 
The Council’s Drainage Officer has confirmed that the submitted flood risk assessment 
indicates that the site is generally at low risk of flooding with the exception of a small 
area in the north east of the site which is at a higher risk of surface water flooding. It is 
considered that sustainable drainage systems can be used to ensure that flood risk is 
not increased elsewhere. The site is located in a suitable zone for development in terms 
of flood risk planning policy. Three conditions are recommended to ensure that the 
drainage design for both surface water and foul drainage are suitable for the site. 
 

 
 
6.39 

Infrastructure - S106 Agreement and Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
The applicant has agreed to securing the following contributions and obligations by way 
of a S106 agreement. All contributions to be index linked. 
 
District Council’s financial contributions: 
- Street naming and numbering £229 per 10 houses = £687 
- Provision of recycling / refuse bins £186 per property = £5,766 
- Monitoring and recording fees £820 
- Affordable Housing monitoring fee £94 
 
County Council’s financial contributions (as set out in OCC consultation 
response): 
- Public Transport £32,147 
- Secondary Education £132,105 
- Monitoring fee £3,750 
 
Obligations (non financial): 
- Highways works to include the crossing of the Phoenix Trail  
- All dwellings to be affordable housing, to ensure that the benefits of affordable 

housing remain in perpetuity and the dwellings remain available for local people in 
accordance with the requirements of policy H10 including mobility standards  

- Management and maintenance of open space 
 
The development is CIL liable. As this is a development for affordable housing, the 
applicant would be able to apply for CIL relief. 

  

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 
6.40 

Pre-commencement conditions 
The applicant has confirmed that they agree to the suggested pre-commencement 
conditions as detailed below. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The proposal is for low cost affordable housing which is community led and is 

supported by evidence, meeting the requirements of Policy H10, Exception Sites and 
Entry level housing schemes. Whilst the site is not currently allocated for housing in the 
development plan, Thame Town Council are in the process of reviewing their 
Neighbourhood Plan and this site is indicated as suitable for development. The scheme 
represents a sustainable development in a suitable location for a small-scale housing 
site which is specifically providing low cost affordable homes for the residents of 
Thame.  
 

7.2 Objections to the development of the site due to the increased vehicles crossing the 
Phoenix Trail have been made by many members of the local community. It is crucially 
important that the safety of the trail for non-motorised uses is maintained and the 
crossing has been designed to ensure that users of the trail take precedence over 
vehicular traffic. The design is to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority and 
Sustrans and a condition is recommended to ensure that the crossing operates as it is 
designed to, otherwise further mitigation will be required Following the highway advice 
and comments from Sustrans, officers consider the proposed design of the crossing 
point to be acceptable in terms of safety and would not discourage users of the Phoenix 
Trail.  
 

7.3 The NPPF states at paragraph 11 that a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay. As discussed in the paragraphs above, the proposal 
complies with the development plan, particularly policies H10: housing exception sites, 
ENV5: green infrastructure in new developments; DES1: delivering high quality 
development, DES10: carbon reduction and TRANS5: consideration of development 
proposals; as well as other policies in the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan.   
 

7.4 Finally, the approval of this site would make a small but important contribution to the 
Council’s five year supply of housing land as the applicant has indicated that all 31 
homes will be delivered within the next five years. The NPPF recognises that small and 
medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing 
requirement of an area and are often built-out relatively quickly. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to: 

 
A) Completion of S106 a legal agreement to 
 i) secure the affordable housing and  
ii) financial contributions and infrastructure as outlined in the report  
 
B) The following conditions: 
 

 1 : Commencement within three years  
2 : Approved plans  
 
Pre commencement 
 
3 : Levels details of existing and proposed levels 
4 : Details of lighting, utilities and landscaping  

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

5 : Landscaping Scheme  
6 : Tree Protection  
7: Sample materials  
8 : Energy Statement Verification  
9 : Refuse & Recycling Storage details required – prior to commencement above 
slab level  
10 : Protect hedges during development operations 
11 : Open Space and Play Areas  
12 : Construction Environmental Management Plan  
13: Biodiversity Enhancement Plan  
14 : Biodiversity offsetting  
15: Cycle Parking Facilities  
16 : Construction Traffic Management Plan  
17: Surface water drainage works  
18 : Foul drainage works  
 
Prior to occupation 
 
19 : New estate roads  
20 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas  
21 : Landscape Management Plan  
22 : Tree pits design  
23 : Surface Water Drainage  
24 : Electric charging point – access for every house to an EVCP 
25 : Air Quality mitigation measures  
26 : Traffic Survey 

  
Post completion 

 
26:  Traffic Survey (to establish if the crossing of the Phoenix Trail is effective, 
and implementation of post completion mitigation measures if required)  

 

 

Author:         Nicola Smith 

E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  

Contact No:  01235 422600 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Drawing

P001 Site Location Plan
Project

Community-led Homes for TCLT
Land to the west of Windmill
Road, Thame, Oxon

Status

Planning
Scale

1:2500
Date Issued

04/12/2020
Revision

Drawn by
WM

Checked by
AT

Date

Date

T/D Studio
Make Space Oxford,

1 Aristotle Lane, 
Oxford, OX2 6TP

email: architecture@transitionbydesign.org
phone: (+44) 1865 959571

TRANSITION by DESIGN

Supplied by Streetwise Maps Ltd
www.streetwise.net

Licence No: 100047474

AREA 16 HA

CENTRE COORDINATES:

SCALE: 1:2500 on A4

470507 205295,

SITE LOCATION PLAN

11:43:34 27/11/2020

Appendix A

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



Drawn by
AT/VM/NS/WM

Checked by
AT

Drawing

P003
Site Layout Plan Proposed

Project

Community-led Homes for
TCLT
A063
Land to the west of Windmill Road,,Thame,, Oxon

Drawing Status

Planning

Drawing Scale

1:200 @ A0
Revision

I
Date Issued

29/09/2021

RevID ChID Change Name Date

G

H

I

GB

GC

GD

HA

IA

Labels and amendments to
parking spaces

Residential garden and
amendments to rear
gardens

Vegitation trimmed for vision
splay

Updates according to
landscape design

Revised rear garden layout
and access. Change to NE
POS and attenuation pond

10/06/2021

21/06/2021

29/09/2021

TRANSITION by DESIGN

Revision History

Notes:

Do not scale from this drawing
Any discrepancies please contact
the architect

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

T/D Studio
Make Space Oxford,

1 Aristotle Lane, 
Oxford, OX2 6TP

email: architecture@transitionbydesign.org
phone: (+44) 1865 959571

UP

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

UPCustom
 Text

Custom Text

Custom Text

Custom Text

Custom Text

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

Custom Text

Custom Text

1

2

3 4 5 6

7

8

9

10

11
1213

14

15

19

18

17

16

20

21

22

23

26

25

24

27

28

29
3031

1

3

2

4 5 6
10

VP

9

VP

7

8

13

14

10

9

5

VP

4

VP

3

VP

2

VP

20

21

22

23

7

VP

24

25

26

27

VP

11

28

29

30

31

VP

12

VP

13

VP

14

VP

15

VP

16

VP

17

VP

18

VP

19

VP

20

VP

21

Timber
steps

Timber
steps

Mound

Mound

Mound

Arable
Farmland

Allotments

Neighbour's
garden

Natural
play

Wildflower
meadow with

benches

Ecology and
bat area

8

VP

6

VP11
12

1

VP

Bollards

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

Scale 1:200

N

Materials

Permeable block paving

(For landscaping design refer to
Landscape Architect's detail drawings)

Shrubs

Native copse plantation

Wildflower meadow

POS Paths

Flag paving

Contained gravel

See engineer's drawing SK10, for
road details

12, 14

Plot Numbers

16,17,18,21,22,25,26

11, 131bA

1bB

2bB

Type

Housetype Schedule

2bA

2bC

Plot NumbersType

2bD

3bA

3bB

3bC10, 28, 29, 30

2, 4, 5, 7

19, 23, 24

15, 20, 27

1, 3, 6 8

9, 31

Grasscrete

Close boarded fencing

Estate railings

Appendix B

P
age 30



UP

Cu
st

om
 T

ex
t

UPCustom
 Text

Custom Text

Custom Text

Custom Text

Custom Text

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13

Cu
st

om
 T

ex
t

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

Custom Text

Custom Text

SOFT WORKS

EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED: ALL TREES TO BE RETAINED UNLESS SPECIFICALLY
INDICATED FOR REMOVAL

EXISTING TREES TO BE RETAINED
See tree survey for further information

TREES
1m3 pit- 1x1m by1m deep. Prior to backfilling base and sides of pit/ trench/ bed to be broken up to an additional depth of 150mm to
facilitate drainage. Trees within parking area to be double staked and centrally tied specialist rubber tree tie at 1.2m. Backfill with
imported good quality topsoil with an additional 200mm of PAS 100 compost and Slow release fertilizer: ENMAG CRF at 50g per
m2 and finish worked surface with 50mm bark mulch cover. Root barriers to be used to contain roots as required near structures/
services.

All trees are planted into soft landscape areas, species have been carefully selected to ensure future growth is not inhibited in
terms of canopy of future root growth. Available soil provisions for future growth of trees are shown below, subject to detailed
design. Tree positions and future growth has been coordinated with the initial service layout  and lighting design by others.

SPECIES LABEL GIRTH HEIGHT CLEAR STEM Soil volume provision  Numbers
Acer campestre Ac 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 23m3 9
Carpinus betulus Cb 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 18m3 6
Juglands regia Jr 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 55m3 7
Liriodendron tulipifera Lt 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 55m3 2
Malus everest Me 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 8m3 4
Malus species (local fruit) Msp. 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 8m3 3
Prunus avium 'Plena' Pa 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 7.5m3 8
Prunus sunset Boulevard Psb 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 7.5m3 8
Pyrus "Chanticleer" PcC 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 9m3 1
Quercus robur Qr 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 55m3 6
Sorbus aria Sa 12-14cm 3.5-4.25m 1.8-2.1m clear stem 8m3 2

SHRUBS: 340m2
Ornamental Shrubs to be planted in cultivated beds 450mm deep

Prior to backfilling add in 50mm PAS 100 compost (as specified) to base and backfill with imported good quality topsoil
adding Slow release fertilizer: ENMAG CRF at 50g per m2. Finish surface with 50mm bark mulch cover.

SPECIMEN SHRUBS
Planted as above

SPECIES SIZE POT NOTES
Amelanchier lamarckii 175-200cm 25L Multi-stem
Buxus sempervirens 40-50cm 10L Topiary ball
Mahonia x media 'Winter Sun' 900-1200mm 15L
Miscanthus sinensis 'Gracillimus' 100-150cm 12L Full pot, fully rooted pot, healthy crown
Viburnum x burkwoodii 900-1200mm 15L

NATIVE HEDGES
Hedge to be planted in cultivated bed 450mm deep with 1m high "Stock Fence" G/S mesh stapled to timber posts.

Prior to backfilling add in 50mm PAS 100 compost (as specified) to base and backfill with imported good quality topsoil adding Slow
release fertilizer: ENMAG CRF at 50g per m2. Finish surface with 50mm bark mulch cover.

Planted at 450mm centres in a double staggered row. Rows to be 400mm apart.

216linM Development frontages SIZE AGE ROOT
Carpinus betulus (Hornbeam) 40-60cm 1+1 OG

65linM Boundary Native Hedge (mix) SIZE AGE ROOT
Crataegus monogyna (Hawthorn) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Prunus spinosa (Blackthorn) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Corylus avellana (Hazel) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Prunus padus (Bird Cherry) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Rosa canina (Dog Rose) 40-60cm 1+1 OG

HARDWORKS

PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING
Marshalls Priora permeable block paving 200X100X60mm laid herringbone on
a fully SuDS compliant sub-base according to manufacturer's
recommendations
Road colour - Traditional
Private driveways colour - buff

FLAG PAVING
Marshalls Saxon textured paving 600x450x50mm colour -natural laid stretcher
bond according too manufacturer's recommendations

KERBS AND EDGINGS
Kerbs to be Marshalls Saxon concrete kerb 145 x 255mm, colour - Natural
Edgings to be Marshalls Saxon concrete edgings 150 x 63mm, colour - Natural

ROAD BANDS
Marshalls conservation setts 200x100mm laid in coursed rows
1.4m wide, Silver grey

BUFF ASPHALT
Natratex Cotswold Buff asphalt surfacing to road-surface

CONTAINED GRAVEL
Recycled plastic grid in-filled with flint gravel
Laid on permeable sub-base.

POS PATHS
Buff self binding gravel paths
1.2m wide with timber edges

GRASSCRETE DROP-OFF ZONES
Plastic mesh ground reinforcement
with rootzone soil and grass seeded with
drought tolerant seed mix.

BOUNDARY TREATMENTS

Gabion walls to architects specifications, generally:

1.6m as bin stores
1m high around parking bays
0.6m retaining walls to garden terraces

CLOSEBOARD FENCING
To back garden division,
1.8m high timber fencing with gravel board base.
1.5m high with 300mm trellis topper
with matching full height gates as shown

ESTATE RAILINGS
To front gardens (Units 6, 8, 9, 15, 20)
1.2m high steel estate railings set into concrete foundation

SITE PERIMETER FENCE
1.8m high post and rial fence with g/s stock proof mesh
fitted inbetween the posts and rails

Scale
2 4 8 12 16 20

North

40m

NATIVE COPSE PLANTATION : 1,321m2
to be planted in cultivated bed 450mm deep.

Prior to backfilling add in 50mm PAS 100 compost (as specified) to base and backfill with imported good quality topsoil
adding Slow release fertilizer: ENMAG CRF at 50g per m2. Finish surface with 50mm bark mulch cover.

Planted in groups of 5 or 7 in random grid at 1m centres with rabbit guard

Thicket Plantation (mix) SIZE AGE ROOT
Crataegus monogyna (Hawthorn) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Betula pendula (Birch) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Corylus avellana (Hazel) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Malus everest (Crab Apple) 40-60cm 1+1 OG
Sorbus intermedia (Whitebeam) 40-60cm 1+1 OG

WILDFLOWER MEADOW: 2770m2
To road verges and public open spaces
Seeded with RE4 Lowland Limestone mix - CG2 Grassland @ 5g/m2
Supplier: Germinal Amenity
Web: germinalamenity.com

AMENITY GRASSLAND: 3484m2
To road verges and public open spaces
Seeded with A19 (All purpose Landscaping) @ 50g/m2 (500kg/ha)
Supplier: Germinal Amenity
Web: germinalamenity.com

Natural Play Space
Informal arrangement of boulders
and tree trunks with natural log benches

Village Green

SUDS Pond

SUDS Pond: Swale pond planting: Plant  to be selected from the following:

Erect marginal plants Low-growing marginal/aquatic
Flowering-rush (Butomus umbellatus) Amphibious bistort (Persicaria amphibia)
Gipsywort (Lycopus europaeus) Brooklime (Veronica beccabunga)
Great water-dock (Rumex hydrolapathum) Fleabane (Pulicaria dysenterica)
Hemp agrimony (Eupatorium cannabinum) Floating sweet-grasses (Glyceria spp.)
Lesser reedmace/lesser bulrush (Typha angustifolia) Marsh foxtail (Alopecurus geniculatus)
Marsh woundwort (Stachys palustris) Marsh marigold (Caltha palustris)
Pendulous sedge (Carex pendula) Meadowsweet (Filipendula vulgaris)
Purple loosestrife (Lythrum salicaria) Water forget-me-not (Myosotis scorpioides)
Rush (Juncus spp.) Water mint (Mentha aquatica)
Yellow iris (Iris pseudacorus) Watercress (Nasturtium officinale)

Mound +1m
1:3 slope

1:3 slope

Shelter

1:3 slope

Mound +1m

Mound +1m

1:3 slope

Mound +1m Pa
Pa

Pa
Pa

Pa

Cb

Cb

Lt

Cb
Cb

Cb

Cb

PcC

Cb

Me
Me

Me

Ac
Ac

AcAc

Ac

Ac

Ac

Ac

Ac

Sa

Jr

Lt

Psb

Psb
Psb

Psb

Psb
PsbPsb

Msp.

Msp.

Pa

Pa

Bench
Bench

Timber
steps

Timber
steps

Mound +1m

Mound +1m

Mound + 0.5m

M
ou

nd
 +

 0
.5

m

Hollow
-0.5m

Sa

Msp.

Jr

Qr Qr

Qr
Jr

Jr

Boundary Fence
1.8m post and rail fence with g/s mesh

stock-mesh

Boundary Fence
1.8m post and rail fence with g/s mesh

stock-mesh

Jr

Jr

Pa

Mound +1m

Qr
Qr

Qr

Jr

Me

Timber sleeper
benches/ tree seat

Street benches

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DATESCALE

STATUS

DWG. NO:

DRAWN

Clews Landscape Architecture Ltd, 57 Hightown Road, Banbury, OX16 9BE
t: 01295702624  w: www.clewsla.co.uk

Notes:

This drawing is for planning purposes only. All quantities, dimensions and
final setting out is subject to detailed design and construction issue.
Contractor to confirm, agree and obtain approval from Landscape
Architect for all of the above prior to any ordering or works commencing.

All details are for information/ pricing only and reliant on a sound and
free-draining ground/ formation layer with a minimum of 5% CBR. If there
are concerns about the ground conditions notify ClewsLA and engineers
may need  be consulted to oversee a ground investigation.

Refer to NBS specifications for detailed hard landscape implementation
methodology but assume all works will be carried out to a high standard
in accordance with the relevant full B.S. specifications.

All general works to be carried out BS 4428:1989 Code of practice for
general landscape operations.

IF IN DOUBT ASK!Appendix C

P
age 31

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
10 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
9 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
5 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
4 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
3 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
2 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
7 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
VP 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
VP 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
VP 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
VP 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
VP 15

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
VP 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
VP 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
VP 18

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
VP 19

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
VP 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
VP 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Timber  steps

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Timber  steps

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Mound

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Mound

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Mound

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Arable Farmland

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Allotments

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Neighbour's garden

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
8 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
6 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
1 VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Bollards

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
WINDMILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
THAME

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
LANDSCAPE MASTERPLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
CC

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
20_210_D101G

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
1:200@A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
09.10.20



Drawn by
AT/VM/NS/WM

Checked by
AT

Drawing

P010
Site Elevation

Project

Community-led Homes for
TCLT (A063)
Land to the west of Windmill Road, Thame, Oxon

Drawing Status

Planning

Drawing Scale

1:200, 1:1500 @ A1
Revision

I

Date

Date

Date Issued

29/09/2021

RevID ChID Change Name Date
E
H
I

HA
IA

New window indicated
Updated drawing issue

04/01/2021
29/09/2021
29/09/2021

TRANSITION by DESIGN

Revision History

Notes:
Do not scale from this drawing
Any discrepancies please contact
the architect

PLANNING

T/D Studio
Make Space Oxford,

1 Aristotle Lane, 
Oxford, OX2 6TP

email: architecture@transitionbydesign.org
phone: (+44) 1865 959571

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

Scale 1:200
IA

AA' Long Elevation (South Facing) 1:200

DD' Through Green (East Facing) 1:200

CC' Through Green (West) 1:200

BB' Long Elevation (North Facing) 1:200

A

A'

B'

B

C'

C

D

D'

Scrubland Phoenix Trail Neighbouring HousesSiteFields

FieldsPhoenix Trail Scrubland SiteNeighbouring houses

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8

91011
12

18

19

20

21

13
14

15

16

17

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
31

2930

04/12/2020
21/06/2021

Appendix DP
age 32



Appendix E

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 1 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P20/S3905/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 27.10.2020 
 PARISH GREAT HASELEY 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Caroline Newton 
 APPLICANT Mr Mark Hobbs 
 SITE Manana, Latchford Lane, Great Haseley, OX44 7LA 
 PROPOSAL Demolition of existing bungalow and garage and 

erection of new chalet style house (As amended by 
revised plans amended plans, arboricultural impact 
assessment, preliminary bat roost assessment, 
energy statement, and water efficiency calculator 
received 17/05/2021 and bat survey received 
31/08/2021). 

 OFFICER Andy Heron 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be 

granted having regard to the material planning considerations and the development 
plan. 
 

1.2 The application is referred to planning committee by councillor Newton who has called 
in the application with concerns in relation to the size of the replacement dwelling. A 
map extract identifying the site is attached at Appendix 1. 
 

1.3 The site is situated within the built area of Great Haseley to the south-west of 
Latchford Lane. It consists of a small 1950’s 4 bedroomed bungalow with a detached 
garage to the rear. The bungalow is constructed in buff coloured brickwork and has a 
pitched tiled roof with two front facing gables, a rear gable, and a rear flat roof 
extension. 
 

1.4 The dwelling is set within a semi-rural street-scene of predominantly small detached 
pitched roof bungalows. The conservation area is situated to the north, and south-
west of the site. 
 

 PROPOSAL 
1.5 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing bungalow and the 

erection of a replacement 4 bedroomed chalet style bungalow. The replacement 
dwelling will measure 11.5 metres by 14.5 metres with a maximum height of 5.9 
metres. The proposed bungalow will be 0.9 metres higher than the existing dwelling.  
  

1.6 The bungalow will have a pitched roof with front and rear facing gables, and two 
pitched roof dormer windows on the front and rear roof slopes. The dwelling will be 
constructed of brick with a render finish and a clay tiled roof. Vehicle access will 
remain as existing with room for 3 cars to be parked on the front driveway. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S3905/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 2 

1.7 An aerial photograph showing the surrounding area is shown below. 
 

 
 

1.8 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans, supporting information and representations can be 
viewed on the council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application 
reference number. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 The comments below represent the latest comments on the scheme. Full details of the 

representations can be viewed on the Council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk under 
the planning reference number.   
 

Great Haseley Parish 
Council 

Objection based on; 
- Scale and bulk 
- Overdevelopment of the plot 
- Un-neighbourly 
- Out of keeping with the character of the area 
- Excessive ridge height 

Letters of representation 6 letters of objection were received during the initial 
consultation period, and a further 2 letters of objection 
were received during the second consultation period 
following receipt of amended plans. 
 
The initial 6 letters of objection were concerned with; 

- Overbearing impact 
- Loss in privacy 
- Loss in daylight 
- Implications of basement excavation works on 

neighbouring properties 
- Car parking layout 
- Access implications during construction 
- Noise and vibration during construction 

Page 36

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 3 

- Impact on the character and appearance of the 
area 

- Overdevelopment 
 
The 2 letters of objection in response to the amended 
plans were concerned with; 

- Excessive bulk and height 
- Impact on the character and appearance of the 

area 
- Loss in privacy and sunlight 
- Ground water implications 
- Harm to neighbouring amenity during 

construction 
- Excavation of material and removal from site 

Countryside officer No objection, subject to a condition requiring the 
erection of a bat box and a bat compliance condition. 

Forestry officer No objection, subject to a tree protection condition. 

Building Control Manager No objection. The Energy Statement and as designed 
SAP calculation submitted demonstrates that the 
erection of new chalet style house will achieve a 
minimum 40% reduction in carbon emissions compared 
with a code 2013 Building Regulations compliant base 
case. 

Highways (Oxfordshire 
County Council) 

No objection, subject to vehicle access and car parking 
conditions.  

 

  
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 One previous application of relevance. 

P19/S0779/PEM - Advice provided (01/05/2019) 
Pre-application for the demolition of the existing bungalow and erection of one dwelling 
and garage. 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The application has been considered under the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.  The proposed 
development is not EIA development. 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

the determination of any planning application must be made in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
statutory Development Plan comprises: 
 
- The Local Plan 2035 
- Adopted neighbourhood plans 
 

5.2 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035 policies which are relevant to the 
proposed development consist of: 
 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 

Page 37

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0779/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 4 

ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV12  -  Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution) 
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H16  -  Backland and Infill Development and Redevelopment 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
TRANS2  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan 
 
There is no neighbourhood plan for this area. 
 

5.4 Other material considerations include government guidance, in particular: 
-           The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
-           The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
-           National Design Guide Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and 
successful places (NDDG) 
-           South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
-           South Oxfordshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (April 2020) 
-           South Oxfordshire Section 106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (1st April 2016) 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 
Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Principle of development 

 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and Parking 

 Wildlife implications 

 Surface water drainage 

 Energy statement 

 Other matters 
 

6.2 Principle of development 
SODC’s settlement hierarchy designates Great Haseley as an other village. Policy 
STRAT1 of the SOLP allows for limited amounts of housing in other villages. Policy H1 
of the SOLP further adds that residential development may be permitted where 
development involves infilling in other villages. 

Page 38



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 5 

 
6.3 Of key importance is policy H16 of the SOLP which concerns the redevelopment of 

previously developed land within smaller and other villages. The policy states that the 
redevelopment of land is acceptable provided the privacy of existing and future 
residents is protected, a means of access can be secured, and development would not 
exceed the built limits of the settlement. 
 

6.4 Officers consider the development to be within the built area of Great Haseley. 
Neighbouring privacy and access will be discussed below. Providing the development 
doesn’t create any harm to access or neighbouring amenity the principle of 
development is considered acceptable. 
 

6.5 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
Policy DES1 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high-quality 
design. One of the key requirements of the policy is to ensure development respects 
the local context working with and complementing the scale, height, density, grain, 
massing, type, and details of the surrounding area. Policy DES2 of the SOLP requires 
development to enhance local character, it states that new development must be 
designed to reflect the positive features that make up the character of the local area 
and should both physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings. 
 

6.6 Officers were initially concerned with the original proposal which was considered to 
harm the character and appearance of the area based on the scale, height, massing, 
and appearance of the replacement dwelling. In response to officers concerns the 
applicant has reduced the footprint, design and height of the dwelling and removed the 
originally proposed garage which was to be sited to the front of the dwelling.  
 

6.7 The overall mass and scale of the replacement dwelling will be larger than that of the 
existing dwelling by virtue of its footprint and height. Despite this, the proposed design 
is now considered to fit with the semi-rural character of the area. Unlike the original 
design, the dwelling will be set-back behind the building line which will reduce any 
overbearing impact when viewed from the Latchford Lane street-scene to the north-
east. The dwelling now proposes a simple pitched roof form with a height which is no 
higher than Watersmeet which is situated to the north-west. Furthermore, the 
development will no longer extend as far into the rear garden with the rear depth 
extended only 2.7 metres beyond the existing. The rear footprint will be set-back 8.7 
metres behind the south-western rear extension at Watersmeet. 
 

6.8 The conservation area runs to the south-west (rear) of the site. The dwelling will be 
sited over 30 metres distance from the conservation area and is not considered to harm 
the setting of the conservation area by virtue of its appearance, size and scale. 
Furthermore, mature landscaping is situated to the south-western area of the site which 
will screen the site and the proposed dwelling. 
 

6.9 The replacement dwelling will appear like a traditional chalet style bungalow that is 
commonly found within the surrounding area. The proposed materials will complement 
the dwelling and its surroundings. Overall, officers consider the development will 
enhance the character of the site and the surrounding area. 
 

6.10 In view of the above the design of the dwelling is considered to fit with the surrounding 
character of the area. The development therefore accords with policies STRAT1, DES1, 
and DES2 of the SOLP. 
 
 
 

Page 39



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 6 

6.11 Residential amenity 
The development will be situated in a long, mature spacious garden. The replacement 
dwelling has been purposely sited to protect neighbouring amenity, for example, the 
south-eastern side elevation will be distanced 1.2 metres from the Birdsay neighbouring 
boundary, and the south-western side elevation will be distanced 1.8 from the 
Watersmeet neighbouring boundary. 
 

6.12 Officers consider the dwelling has been sensitively designed and will be built to an 
appropriate scale and size for the proposed site. It is not considered to create an 
overbearing impact towards neighbouring occupants, nor will it create a loss in privacy. 
All side elevation windows will be situated on the ground floor and will be screened via 
existing boundary treatment and landscaping. Furthermore, the only first floor windows 
are situated on the front and rear elevations which will not directly face neighbouring 
properties. 
 

6.13 The amended design has reduced the first floor footprint of the rear two storey 
extension which now includes two ground floor flat roof extensions to the sides. The 
intention of this is to overcome any potential impact the development may have on 
neighbouring properties in terms of sunlight. In doing so the two storey element does 
not extend beyond a 45 degree angle taken from neighbouring habitable windows as 
can be seen from the plan below. In this instance officers do not consider the ground 
floor flat roof extensions to the side elevations will harm neighbouring amenity as they 
are only 2.7 metres high. The occupants of Birdsay may lose a limited amount of 
sunlight in the mornings although this is not considered harmful enough to warrant a 
refusal, particularly as the side extension would only be 700mm higher than a 2 metre 
boundary wall or fence which would benefit from permitted development.  

 

 
6.14 It is accepted there may be some increase in noise levels during construction, although 

this will only be temporary. An hours of work condition will be recommended to ensure 
that the development is not unneighbourly. To ensure the development preserves 

Page 40



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 7 

neighbouring amenity a condition will also be recommended to remove permitted 
development rights for extensions and roof alterations. 
 

6.15 The development will not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of 
neighbouring uses and is therefore considered to comply with policy DES6 of the 
SOLP. 
 

6.16 Access and Parking 
 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP requires development to provide safe and convenient 
access for all users to the highway. The dwelling will have three on-site car parking 
spaces on the front driveway and enough space for vehicles to safely manoeuvre on 
the driveway. 
 

6.17 Oxfordshire County Council’s highway liaison officer has raised no objection to the 
proposed development, subject to vehicle access and parking conditions which will 
need to be discharged prior to occupation of the dwelling. 
 

6.18 Wildlife implications 
 
Policy ENV2 of the SOLP seeks to avoid adverse impacts on ecological receptors 
(protected species, priority habitats, designated sites, etc.). Where adverse impacts are 
predicted, development must meet the tests outlined under the policy. The council’s 
countryside officer has been consulted and advised that the development is unlikely to 
harm the habitat of local wildlife and protected species.  
 

6.19 Policy ENV3 of the SOLP supports development that will conserve, restore and 
enhance biodiversity. It requires all development to provide a net gain in biodiversity 
where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net loss of biodiversity. 
 

6.20 The council’s countryside officer has confirmed he is satisfied that the development will 
not lead to a net loss in biodiversity. A condition requiring the erection of a bat box and 
a bat compliance condition is recommended by the countryside officer. It remains the 
legal responsibility of the applicant to ensure that a wildlife offence is not committed on 
site. 
 

6.21 In view of the above the development is not considered to harm local wildlife or create a 
net loss in biodiversity and is therefore in compliance with policies ENV2 and ENV3 of 
the SOLP, and paragraph 174 and 175 of the NPPF.  
 

6.22 Surface water drainage 
 
A small area to the north-eastern area of the site has a 0.1 percent annual risk of 
surface water flooding. The council’s drainage officer has been consulted on this 
matter. Officers will update members at committee one we have received further advice 
from the drainage officer.  
 

6.23 Energy statement 
 
Policy DES10 of the SOLP seeks to reduce carbon emissions and requires all new 
build residential dwellings to incorporate renewable energy and other low carbon 
technologies and / or energy efficiency measures. To comply with the policy an energy 
statement has been submitted in support of the planning application. The energy 
statement demonstrates the dwelling can achieve a 40% uplift above 2013 Building 
Regulations baseline requirements. 

Page 41



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 8 

 
6.24 A condition is recommended requiring a verification report to be submitted prior to 

occupation to demonstrate all carbon reduction energy efficiency measures have been 
implemented in accordance with the energy statement. 
 

6.25 Other matters 
 
Neighbouring concerns have been raised with regards to implications of basement 
excavation works on neighbouring properties and the removal of spoil.  
 

6.26 The amended plans have removed the proposed basement which is no longer required. 
The proposed construction works are not extensive, nor will there be changes to the 
site levels. It is therefore not considered necessary to attach a spoil condition in this 
instance.  
 

6.27 Conditions 
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF is clear that local planning authorities should consider 
whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the 
use of conditions. The NPPF goes on to state at paragraph 56 that conditions should 
only be imposed where they are necessary; relevant to planning and to the 
development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. 
 

6.28 A condition is necessary relating to the plans approved, in order to ensure the 
satisfactory appearance of the completed development. Time frame conditions will also 
be attached to secure the proper planning of the area in accordance with development 
plan policies. A compliance condition to restrict the materials to the approved plans will 
also be attached in the interest of visual amenity. 
 

6.29 The forestry officer has recommended a tree protection condition to safeguard existing 
trees. A condition restricting occupation of the dwelling until an electric vehicle charging 
point has been installed will also be attached to the planning approval to ensure 
sustainable forms of transport are provided in accordance with Policy TRANS5 of the 
SOLP. All other conditions have been discussed in the relevant sections of the 
delegated report. 
 

6.30 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
The development is CIL liable to the amount of £23,249.45. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development plan, 

the NPPF, PPG, the adopted SPD’s and all other material planning considerations. 
 

7.2 The application will provide an economic and social role via the creation of additional 
jobs during construction. The dwelling is also CIL liable and will contribute towards local 
infrastructure. 
 

7.3 In terms of the environmental role, the development would enhance the character and 
appearance of the site and the surrounding area. 
 

7.4 Overall, in the planning balance, the benefits of the development outweigh any potential 
harm. As such, the application is recommended for approval. 

 
 

Page 42



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 9 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions 

 
 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans 
3 : Bat box 
4 : Tree Protection (General) 
5 : Existing vehicular access 
6 : Parking and manoeuvring areas retained 
7 : Energy Statement Verification 
8 : Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
9 : Bat survey compliance 
10 : Hours of operation - construction/demolition sites 
11 : Materials 
12 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A, B, C, D and E) 
13 : CIL- informative 
14 : Section 151 of the Highways Act 1980 - informative 
15 : Section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 - informative 
16 : Works within the highway - informative 

 
 
 
Author:         Andy Heron 
E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  
Contact No:  01235 422600 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee report – 24 November 2021 
 

Appendix 1 Map extract 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 45

Agenda Item 9P20/S3905/FUL



Appendix 2

P
age 46



P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S2551/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 2.6.2021 
 PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
 APPLICANT Mr A Stewart 
 SITE Waterstone House, Burcot, OX14 3DN 
 PROPOSAL Works of demolition, extension, alteration and 

conversion of the existing storage building to form a 
self-contained dwelling (19-08-2021 amended 
neighbour notification certificates following 
notification on all frontages of access road and 
structural survey). 

 OFFICER Andy Heron 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION  
1.1 This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be 

granted having regard to the material planning considerations and the development 
plan. 
 

1.2 The application is referred to planning committee by councillor Casey-Rerhaye who 
has called in the application with concerns in relation to drainage, whether the building 
is capable of conversion, and the potential loss in privacy to neighbouring occupants. 
A map extract identifying the site is attached at Appendix 1. 
 

1.3 The site is within the Green Belt and designated as an area of archaeological interest. 
It covers a 0.07 hectare area and consists of a single storey timber clad storage 
building on land to the north-west of Waterstone House, Burcot. Large dwellings set 
within spacious plots are located to the south and east, with more traditional early 20th 
century dwellings situated to the north. The building has a lean-to pitched roof with a 
maximum height of 4.4 metres and a footprint measuring 4.9 metres by 18.6 metres. 
The building forms the southern half of a former barn, sharing a party wall to the north 
with the northern part of the barn which is within the rear garden of Withywindle. 
Vehicle access is via Abingdon Road to the north-west. 
 

 PROPOSAL 
1.4 Planning permission is sought for the alteration and conversion of the storage building 

to form a one bedroomed dwelling. To enable the works a 3-metre-wide section of the 
western end of the building, and a 1-metre-wide section to the east will be 
demolished. In addition, the footprint of the south extension will extend by 1.2 metres 
to the south to increase the depth of the building. The pitch of the roof will also be 
reduced to accommodate the additional depth.  
 

1.5 Externally the building will be finished with dark stained, horizontal weatherboarding 
over a brick plinth, with a slate roof. Fenestration will also be inserted in the southern 
roof slope and east, south and west elevations. 
 

1.6 Vehicle access will be taken from the exiting access via Abingdon Road. One car 
parking space will be situated on-site to the west of the dwelling. An area of amenity 
space will be provided to the west of the dwelling.  
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2551/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

1.7 An aerial photograph showing the surrounding area is shown below. 
 

 
 

1.8 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans, supporting information and representations can be 
viewed on the council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application 
reference number. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 The comments below represent the latest comments on the scheme. Full details of the 

representations can be viewed on the Council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk under 
the planning reference number.   
 

Clifton Hampden Parish 
Council 

No comment. 

Letters of representation 4 letters of representation received, consisting of 1 letter 
of support and 3 letters of objection. 
 
The 1 letter of support stated; 

- The current building is an eyesore and will 
provide much needed housing and re-use a 
redundant building. 

 
The 3 letters of objection were concerned with; 

- Lack of information 
- Drainage concerns 
- Wildlife implications 
- Green Belt implications 
- Impact on the character and appearance of the 

area 
- Highway safety 
- Impact on neighbouring amenity 
- Impact on amenity of future occupants 
- Noise 
- Harm to a non-designated heritage asset 

Page 50

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

Oxfordshire County 
Council Archaeological 
Services 

No objection. The site is located in an area of 
archaeological interest however the development is of a 
relatively small scale and as such there are no 
archaeological constraints to this scheme. 

Countryside officer No objection.  

Drainage No objection, subject to surface water and foul water 
drainage conditions. 

Highways (Oxfordshire 
County Council) 

No objection, subject to a car parking condition. The 
existing building would have generated a level of 
vehicular movements. It is considered the proposed 
dwelling would generate a similar level of vehicle 
movements. Given the characteristics of the 
carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are relatively 
low. 
 
The proposal is unlikely to result in any significant 
intensification of transport activity at the site, in addition 
the development is unlikely to have a significant adverse 
impact on the highway network. 

SGN Plant Protection 
Team 

No objection. 

 

  
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 
 
 

One previous application of relevance. 
 
P20/S1133/LDE - Approved (29/06/2020) 
Certificate of existing lawful use for the use of the building for domestic/residential 
storage purposes (Use Class B8). 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The application has been considered under the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.  The proposed 
development is not EIA development. 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

the determination of any planning application must be made in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
statutory Development Plan comprises: 
 
- The Local Plan 2035 
- Adopted neighbourhood plans 
 

5.2 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035 policies which are relevant to the 
proposed development consist of: 
 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 

Page 51

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S1133/LDE


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

ENV9  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
ENV12  -  Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution) 
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H8  -  Housing in the Smaller Villages 
H16 – Backland, Infill and Redevelopment  
INF4  -  Water Resources 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
STRAT6  -  Green Belt 
TRANS2  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan 
 
There is no neighbourhood plan for this area. 
 

5.4 Other material considerations include government guidance, in particular: 
-           The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
-           The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
-           National Design Guide Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and 
successful places (NDDG) 
-           South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
-           South Oxfordshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (April 2020) 
-           South Oxfordshire Section 106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (1st April 2016) 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 
Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Principle of development 

 Green Belt 

 Is the building capable of conversion? 

 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 Is the building a non-designated heritage asset and would the 
development create harm? 

 Residential amenity 

 Residential amenity of future occupants 

 Access and Parking 

 Wildlife implications 

 Drainage 

 Other matters 
 
 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 
 

6.2 Principle of development 
 
The site is situated within the built area of Burcot. Burcot is designated as one of the 
district’s smaller villages. Policy STRAT1 of the SOLP allows for limited amounts of 
housing in smaller villages. Policy H16 of the SOLP supports the redevelopment of 
buildings within smaller villages. The principle of development is therefore acceptable. 
 

6.3 Green Belt 
 
Policy STRAT6 of the SOLP seeks to protect the Green Belt from harmful development. 
Its main aim is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open.  
 

6.4 Paragraph 150d of the NPPF states that the re-use of permanent and substantial 
buildings is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt provided the development 
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of 
including land within it. An additional exception which is relevant to this proposal is 
paragraph 149g which allows the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
than the existing development. 
 

6.5 Officers consider that the application accords with both of the above exceptions. The 
supporting structural survey states that the barn is believed to have stood since the late 
18th Century. It concludes that the barn is in a reasonable structural condition for its age 
and past usage and can be safely converted. The development would involve an 
alteration to the building which would involve alterations to the roof, the demolition of 
western and eastern parts of the existing building, and a small extension to the south. 
There will be a 10 square metre reduction in floor space which shows the development 
will not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original 
building. The development is therefore considered to preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and will not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. 
 

6.6 It is therefore considered that the development is appropriate, however it is unlikely that 
any further extensions will be considered appropriate in the future due to Green Belt 
constraints. The development will comply with policy STRAT6 of the SOLP and 
paragraphs 149 and 150 of the NPPF. 
 

6.7 Is the building capable of conversion? 
 
Concern has been raised whether the building is capable of conversion. The applicants 
have submitted a structural survey which concludes that the barn is in a reasonable 
structural condition for its age and past usage and can be safely converted. 
 

6.8 Nevertheless, it has already been demonstrated that the principle of the development is 
acceptable as the proposed works would represent the redevelopment of a previously 
developed site within the built area of Burcot. The development would also accord with 
Green Belt policy on this basis.  
 

6.9 The conversion is stated in the description of the development. If the building is not 
capable of conversion a new planning consent would be required. 
 
 
 

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

6.10 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
 
Policy DES1 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high-quality 
design. One of the key requirements of the policy is to ensure development respects 
the local context working with and complementing the scale, height, density, grain, 
massing, type, and details of the surrounding area. Policy DES2 of the SOLP requires 
development to enhance local character, it states that new development must be 
designed to reflect the positive features that make up the character of the local area 
and should both physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings. 
 

6.11 The works will maintain the original agricultural/ stable character and tidy up a tired and 
underutilised building. The alterations and conversion are considered to enhance the 
character of the site and the wider area.  
 

6.12 The application is considered to comply with policy DES8 of the SOLP. High levels of 
insulation and sustainable technologies are proposed to be utilised to maximise the 
energy and water efficiency of the building. 
 

6.13 In view of the above the design of the dwelling is considered to fit with the surrounding 
character of the area. The development therefore accords with policies STRAT1, DES1, 
DES2, and DES8 of the SOLP. 
 

6.14 Is the building a non-designated heritage asset and would the development 
create harm? 
 
Non-designated heritage assets are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or 
landscapes identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, but which do not meet the 
criteria for designated heritage assets. 
 

6.15 A substantial majority of buildings have little or no heritage significance and thus do not 
constitute heritage assets. Only a minority have enough heritage significance to merit 
identification as non-designated heritage assets. 
 

6.16 There are several processes through which non-designated heritage assets may be 
identified, including the local and neighbourhood plan-making processes and 
conservation area appraisals and reviews. Irrespective of how they are identified, it is 
important that the decisions to identify them as non-designated heritage assets are 
based on sound evidence. 
 

6.17 Plan-making bodies should make clear and up to date information on non-designated 
heritage assets accessible to the public to provide greater clarity and certainty for 
developers and decision-makers. This includes information on the criteria used to select 
non-designated heritage assets and information about the location of existing assets. 
 

6.18 It is important that all non-designated heritage assets are clearly identified as such. In 
this context, it can be helpful if local planning authorities keep a local list of non-
designated heritage assets, incorporating any such assets which are identified by 
neighbourhood planning bodies. 
 

6.19 The council does not keep a record of non-designated heritage assets, although 
important historical buildings are often mentioned in conservation area appraisals and 
neighbourhood plans. Unfortunately, there is no conservation area appraisal or adopted 
neighbourhood plan for this area. In the absence of the above document’s officers do 
not consider that the building is a non-designated heritage asset.    

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

 
6.20 Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that the effect of an application on the significance 

of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining  
applications. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 

6.21 Even if the building was a non-designated asset it has already been stated above that 
the development is considered to enhance the character of the building and the 
surrounding character of the area. There would therefore be little harm in terms of the 
development on the historical features of the building, particularly as the building could 
be safely converted. 
 

6.22 Residential amenity 
Policy DES6 of SOLP aims to protect the amenity of neighbouring uses from loss of 
privacy or day/sunlight, visual intrusion, noise, contamination or external lighting. 
There is unlikely to be any loss in privacy caused by the development. Withywindle is 
the nearest dwelling to the site which is situated 21 metres to the north. Neighbouring 
properties are a sufficient distance away and are unlikely to suffer from a loss of light or 
privacy. Particularly as the dwelling will be single storey. 
 

6.23 It is accepted there may be some increase in noise levels during construction, although 
this will only be temporary. The highway officer has confirmed the traffic levels to and 
from the site will be no different from the current levels. It is therefore considered there 
will be no harmful impact in terms of noise towards neighbouring occupants. To ensure 
the development preserves neighbouring amenity a condition will be attached to 
remove permitted development rights for extensions, roof alterations and outbuildings. 
 

6.24 The development will not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of 
neighbouring uses and is therefore considered to comply with policy DES6 of the 
SOLP. 
 

6.25 Residential amenity of future occupants 
 
Policy DES5 of the SOLP aims to ensure that all new dwellings have an adequate 
provision of private outdoor garden. The garden size will be dictated by the number of 
bedrooms and minimum garden sizes are prescribed in the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide. For 1 bedroom dwellings gardens should be at least 35 square metres in size. 
The proposed plot proposes 66 square metres of amenity space which easily exceeds 
the minimum standard. The proposal accords with policy DES5 of the SOLP. 
 

6.26 Access and Parking 
 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP requires development to provide safe and convenient 
access for all users to the highway. The dwelling will have one on-site car parking 
space on the front driveway. 
 

6.27 Vehicle movements to and from the site are considered to remain as existing. 
Oxfordshire County Council’s highway liaison officer has raised no objection to the 
proposed development, subject to a parking condition which will need to be discharged 
prior to commencement of development.  
 
 
 
 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

6.28 Wildlife implications 
Policy ENV2 of the SOLP seeks to avoid adverse impacts on ecological receptors 
(protected species, priority habitats, designated sites, etc.). Where adverse impacts are 
predicted, development must meet the tests outlined under the policy.  
 

6.29 Neighbouring concerns have been received regarding the impact of development on 
wildlife habitats and protected species. The council’s countryside officer has been 
consulted and advised that the site is unlikely to harm the habitat of local wildlife and 
protected species.  
 

6.30 Policy ENV3 of the SOLP supports development that will conserve, restore and 
enhance biodiversity. It requires all development to provide a net gain in biodiversity 
where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net loss of biodiversity. 
 

6.31 The council’s countryside officer has confirmed she is satisfied that the development 
will not lead to a net loss in biodiversity. As a precautionary measure, the countryside 
officer has recommended a bat protection informative is attached to the decision in 
case bats are discovered during construction. It remains the legal responsibility of the 
applicant to ensure that a wildlife offence is not committed on site. 
 

6.32 In view of the above the development is not considered to harm local wildlife or create a 
net loss in biodiversity and is therefore in compliance with policies ENV2 and ENV3 of 
the SOLP, and paragraph 174 and 175 of the NPPF.  
 

6.33 Drainage 
Policy INF4 of SOLP aims to ensure that development proposals demonstrate that 
there is or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and sewerage 
treatment capacity to serve the whole development. Policy EP4 of SOLP aims to 
minimise flood risk directing new development to areas of the lowest probability of 
flooding and also aims to achieve sustainable drainage systems. 
 
The council’s drainage officer has reviewed the proposed plans and raised no 
objection, subject to surface water drainage and foul drainage conditions to ensure the 
proper provision of drainage and to ensure flooding is not exacerbated in the locality in 
accordance with Policy EP4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035. 
 

6.34 Other matters 
 
Neighbouring concerns have been raised regarding potential implications the 
development may have on the northern barn which adjoins the building to the north. 
The buildings share a party wall (the proposed dwellings northern wall). This would not 
constitute a material planning consideration. Any potential impact on a party wall would 
be covered by the Party Wall Act which is separate legislation that falls outside of the 
Town and Country Planning Act. 
 

6.35 Despite the above it is useful to note that the structural survey concludes the existing 
party wall foundation will not be compromised and that the building is capable of 
conversion. 
 

6.36 Conditions 
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF is clear that local planning authorities should consider 
whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the 
use of conditions. The NPPF goes on to state at paragraph 56 that conditions should 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 24 November 2021 

only be imposed where they are necessary; relevant to planning and to the 
development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. 
 

6.37 A condition is necessary relating to the plans approved, in order to ensure the 
satisfactory appearance of the completed development. Time frame conditions will also 
be attached to secure the proper planning of the area in accordance with development 
plan policies. A compliance condition to restrict the materials to the approved plans will 
also be attached in the interest of visual amenity. 
 

6.38 A condition restricting occupation of the dwelling until an electric vehicle charging point 
has been installed will also be attached to the planning approval to ensure sustainable 
forms of transport are provided in accordance with Policy DES8 of the SOLP. All other 
conditions have been discussed in the relevant sections of the delegated report. 
 

6.39 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
This application is not CIL Liable as there will be a 10 square metre reduction in floor 
space. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development plan, 

the NPPF, PPG, the adopted SPD’s and all other material planning considerations. 
 

7.2 The application will provide an economic and social role via the creation of a smaller 1 
bed dwelling unit within the district which is in short supply. 
 

7.3 In terms of the environmental role, the development would re-use and improve a 
underutilised redundant building.  
 

7.4 Overall, in the planning balance, the benefits of the development outweigh any potential 
harm. As such, the application is recommended for approval. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions 

 
 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans 
3 : Surface Water Drainage 
4 : Foul Water Drainage 
5 : Car parking provision 
6 : Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
7 : Materials 
8 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A, B, C, D and E) 
9 : Section 151 of the Highways Act 1980 - informative 
10 : Section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 - informative 
11 : Bats - informative 

 
 
Author:         Andy Heron 
E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  
Contact No:  01235 422600 

 

  

 

Page 57

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee report – 24 November 2021 
 

Appendix 1 Map extract 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 59

Agenda Item 10P21/S2551/FUL



Appendix 2

Page 60



BLOCK PLAN
5m0

Embling Associates Ltd - Chartered Building Engineer
Building and Planning Design
23 Sinodun Road,  Didcot,  OX11 8HP.
Mob : 07710298597
email : mike@emblingal.com

Drg. No.   21/0106/BPP1(A) - A4
Copyright EAL 2021

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE

DRAWING FOR PLANNING  APPLICATION
© Crown Copyright 2008. All rights reserved. Licence number AR100036910

Proposed  :  CONVERSION OF STORAGE BUILDING TO DWELLING

            At  :  WATERSTONE HOUSE, BURCOT.

           For  :  Mr.& Mrs.A.H.STEWART

Scale        :      1  :  500   

1

R
os

em
ar

y

3

ABINGDON ROAD
Grantchester House

Withywindle

Patio
Proposed Conversion to Dwelling

Car Parking Space

Laural Hedge

Page 61

mailto:mike@emblingal.com


Proposed  :  CONVERSION OF STORAGE BUILDING TO DWELLING

            At  :  WATERSTONE HOUSE, BURCOT.

           For  :  Mr.A.H.STEWART

Scale         :      1  :  100

Embling  Associates Ltd - Chartered Building Engineer
Building and Planning Design
23 Sinodun Road,  Didcot,  OX11 8HP.
Tel : 07710298597
email : mike@emblingal.com

Drg. No.   21/0106/P1 - A3
Copyright EAL 2021CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE

DRAWING FOR PLANNING APPLICATION

EXISTING PLAN

0.5m 5m2m

1:100

0 3m1m

SIDE ELEVATION - EAST FRONT ELEVATION - SOUTH SIDE ELEVATION - WEST

PLAN

ROOF PLAN

SECTION

P
age 62

mailto:mike@emblingal.com


Existing Stone Plinth New Brick
Plinth

Dark Stained
Boarding

KITCHEN
SHOWER ROOM

BEDROOM AREA

STOREROOFLIGHT ROOFLIGHT ROOFLIGHT ROOFLIGHT

ROOFLIGHT ROOFLIGHT ROOFLIGHT ROOFLIGHT

Proposed  :  CONVERSION OF STORAGE BUILDING TO DWELLING

            At  :  WATERSTONE HOUSE, BURCOT.

           For  :  Mr.A.H.STEWART

Scale         :      1  :  100

Embling  Associates Ltd - Chartered Building Engineer
Building and Planning Design
23 Sinodun Road,  Didcot,  OX11 8HP.
Tel : 07710298597
email : mike@emblingal.com

Drg. No.   21/0106/P2(C) - A3

LIVING AREA

Existing Party Wall

Make Good Existing Party Wall
Clad with Dark Stained Weather Boarding

Make Good Existing Party Wall
Clad with Dark Stained Weather Boarding

Make Good Existing Party Wall
Clad with Dark Stained Weather Boarding

Make Good Existing Party Wall
Clad with Dark Stained Weather Boarding

Copyright EAL 2021CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE

DRAWING FOR PLANNING APPLICATION

PROPOSED PLAN

0.5m 5m2m

1:100

0 3m1m

SIDE ELEVATION - EAST FRONT ELEVATION - SOUTH SIDE ELEVATION - WEST

SECTION

ROOF PLAN

PLAN

Wood Burning Stove

Existing Party Wall

ROOFLIGHT

ROOFLIGHT

MATERILS
Roof - Redland Cambrian Slates
Walls - Dark Stained Weather Boarding
Red Brick Plinth
Doors & Windows - Wood Double Glazed
Stable Doors to Front Elevation (South)
Rooflights - Velux Rooflights

P
age 63

mailto:mike@emblingal.com


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes Public Pack, 01/09/2021 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	8 P20/S4693/FUL - Land to the West of Windmill Road, Thame
	Appendices A-E
	Appendix A Site Location Plan
	P001 Site Location Plan
	P001 Site Location Plan


	Appendix B Site Layout Plan Proposed_rev I
	P003 Site Layout Plan Proposed

	Appendix C Landscape Masterplan
	Sheets and Views
	Layout2


	Appendix D Street Scenes
	P010 Site Elevation 

	Appendix E Windmill Road Widening Layout


	9 P20/S3905/FUL -  Manana, Latchford Lane, Great Haseley
	Appendices 1-2
	1 - Appendix 1 Map extract
	2 Building Plans MAN 02 !21
	2a Building Plans MAN 01 !21A


	10 P21/S2551/FUL - Waterstone House, Burcot
	Appendices 1-2


